ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Florence County

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 17 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TAVARIO DORMELL BRUNSON,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-211593

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court violated the Eighth Amendment's ban on cruel and unusual punishment by sentencing Appellant, who was seventeen-years old at the time of the crime, to life imprisonment without parole on the charge of murder where such a sentence is prohibited. In the alternative, Appellant's sentence violates the Eighth Amendment because the trial court failed to consider Appellant's age as a mitigating factor and failed to provide constitutionally adequate sentencing procedures.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its July 2011 term, a Florence County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder, attempted murder, armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and burglary first degree. R. 145 (Indictment). Appellant was tried before the Honorable William H. Seals and a jury during the week of April 9, 2012 in Florence County. E.L. Clements, III and Todd Tucker represented the state, while Scott Floyd and William Vickery Meetze represented Appellant. R. 1. On the second day of trial, the prosecutor moved to amend count five of the indictment to charge Appellant with burglary in the second degree, not first degree, because the location allegedly entered by Appellant was a business, not a residence. R. 77, l. 8 – R. 78, l. 21. Over Appellant's objection, R. 79, l. 1 – R. 80, l. 6; R. 94, ll. 4-12, Judge Seals permitted the amendment, R. 94, ll. 13-18.

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 128, l. 25 – R. 129, l. 14. Judge Seals sentenced Appellant to life in prison on the murder conviction, thirty years' imprisonment on the attempted murder conviction, thirty years' imprisonment on the armed robbery conviction, fifteen years' imprisonment on the burglary second degree conviction, and five years' imprisonment on the possession of a weapon conviction. R. 143, l. 22 – R. 144, l. 10. He ordered the sentences to run consecutively. R. 144, ll. 9-10.

On December 17, 2012, Appellant filed a motion to stay appeal pending this Court's decision in Aiken, et al. v. Byars, App. Case No. 2012-213286 (cert. granted May 6, 2013) in the Court of Appeals. On January 2, 2013, Respondent filed a motion in opposition to the stay request. On January 3, 2013, the Court of Appeals acknowledged receipt of the motion

in opposition to the request for a stay and ordered Appellant to file a reply. The Court also advised that the time limits for perfecting the appeal were held in abeyance pending the Court's decision on the motion. On January 9, 2013, Appellant filed a reply. On May 8, 2013, this Court certified the appeal from the Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR, denied Appellant's motion to stay, and ordered Appellant to file an initial brief and designations.

This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Donna Robinson testified that on April 12, 2011, while she was working at Rick's Pawn Shop, someone entered the store with a gun. She was unable to see the individual because the individual's head was covered. R. 2, line 24 – R. 3, line 1; R. 3, lines 9-11; R. 4, lines 4-6; R. 4, lines 13-18; R. 4, line 25 – R. 5, line 2. The individual shot her co-worker upon entering the store. R. 5, lines 3-11. The individual then pointed a gun at her and directed her to fill a garbage bag with gold. R. 6, lines 15-19. The individual shot her co-worker again. R. 7, lines 1-5. She and the individual filled the trash bag with jewelry. R. 16, lines 2-6. Additionally, Robinson gave the individual the money from the cash register. R. 20, lines 11-13. Then, the individual instructed her to get on the floor, and she complied. The individual shot her R. 20, line 19 – R. 21, line 15. When the individual left, she called for help. R. 22, lines 10-11.

When Appellant was arrested for the crimes at Rick's Pawn Shop, he gave a statement to police. In his statement, he admitted he robbed the pawn shop. He stated he "was just trying to help [his] family" because they were struggling and "money was short." R. 120, lines 2-12. He had not planned to shoot anyone or kill anyone. He shot because he was scared. After he shot, he did not look because he did not want to see what he had done. He informed the officer that he "wish[ed] [he] could take it all back. [He] didn't mean for nobody to get hurt. [He] was scared. [He] didn't know what else to do." He panicked. R. 120, line 14 – R. 121, line 19.

ARGUMENT

The trial court violated the Eighth Amendment's ban on cruel and unusual punishment by sentencing Appellant, who was seventeen-years old at the time of the crime, to life imprisonment without parole on the charge of murder where such a sentence is prohibited. In the alternative, Appellant's sentence violates the Eighth Amendment because the trial court failed to consider Appellant's age as a mitigating factor and failed to provide constitutionally adequate sentencing procedures.

Relevant facts

Appellant was seventeen-years old at the time of the crimes for which he was convicted. R. 140, ll. 9-10; R. 141, ll. 22-25. The solicitor's presentation during sentencing included his opinion that the trial judge "may have a tougher job" than the solicitor. He remarked that he, the solicitor had two sons, and he did "not know what [he] would do if something like this happened to one of them." He acknowledged that the judge had a son as well. R. 139, line 24 – R. 140, line 3. He then relayed Appellant's prior criminal history, which consisted only of a juvenile record. The solicitor informed the judge of an assessment from the Pee Dee Mental Health Center that resulted from a juvenile conviction regarding Appellant's mental health. Specifically, he claimed "there's nothing there that says he has any mental issues whatsoever." However, the solicitor relied upon other statements in the assessment to support his argument for the greatest possible sentence for Appellant. He claimed the assessment indicated Appellant had homicidal ideation, including a plan to carry out the thought. Per the solicitor, the report indicated Appellant "like[d] to kill things, animals, frogs, insects," often lost his temper, and was defiant against rules. The solicitor glossed over the fact that the

assessment indicated Appellant had refused to forgive his mother “for beatings he received from ages eight to nine.” R. 140, line 9 – R. 141, line 7.

The prosecutor then asked the judge to sentence Appellant to life in prison “based on [his] demeanor and attitude.” R. 141, lines 8-12. He elaborated “[i]f he [were] not [seventeen] years old at the time of this offense, my office would have sought the death penalty, but since that is not allowable by the United States Supreme Court, we did not.” R. 141, lines 20-25. Further, he asked the judge to order the sentences to run consecutively in the event that “life ever gets changed by our legislature so that it’s no longer a natural life.” R. 142, lines 1-5.

The state’s sentencing presentation included statements by members of the deceased’s family and the victim of the attempted murder. The victim stated that Appellant would be held accountable for his actions “not only here on Earth, but that God would ultimately judge him with all the vengeance and justice that a father should when one of his children is murdered.” R. 131, line 18 – R. 133, line 1. Dale Ginn, the deceased’s aunt, informed the court of the impact of the deceased’s death on his family, particularly, his mother, father, and daughter, and of the family events the deceased will miss. R. 133, line 4 – R. 134, line 23. The deceased’s cousin advised the court that his internet research relative to Appellant uncovered he was involved in a gang. He argued Appellant deserved the maximum sentence to deter others from “go[ing] into this lifestyle.” R. 135, lines 2-20. The deceased’s stepmother and father discussed their love of the deceased, his good deeds, and good nature. His father argued Appellant to receive the maximum sentence as his “justice ... on Earth,” but remarked that “his eternal security [was] between him and God.” R. 135, line 22 – R. 139, line 1. Finally, the

mother of the deceased's child advised the court of the impact of the death on her child. She described it as "pure hell" to "even think that [Appellant] could ever walk out of jail one day." She described Appellant as "evil." R. 139, lines 5-22.

In stark contrast, only Appellant's lawyer spoke on his behalf. He had met with Appellant's mother and family members. He opined that Appellant did not "come from a background where this would be something that you would expect." R. 142, line 13 – R. 143, line 18.

Additionally, Appellant informed the judge that a case was pending in the Supreme Court of the United States challenging sentencing juveniles to life imprisonment as cruel and unusual punishment. R. 142, line 20 – R. 143, line 6. Nevertheless, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to life in prison for the murder conviction without regard to Appellant's age. R. 143, lines 22-25. Additionally, he sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment for attempted murder, thirty years' imprisonment for armed robbery, fifteen years' imprisonment for burglary in the second degree, and five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon. Just as the solicitor had requested, the judge ordered the sentences to run consecutively. The judge offered no reasoning for his sentencing decision. R. 143, line 22 – R. 144, line 10.

Discussion

Error Preservation

South Carolina requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge in order to be preserved for appellate review. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-694 (2003)(citing Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001)). However, the objecting party is not required to "use the exact name of a legal

doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground.” Id. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694 (citing State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001)). Appellant informed the court of a case pending on appeal in the United States Supreme Court challenging the application of life sentences to individuals less than eighteen years of age. Clearly, this was an objection to the imposition of a life sentence. The only purpose trial counsel would have had in informing the trial court of the pending case was to object. Thereafter, the Honorable William H. Seals sentenced Appellant to life in prison indicating his overruling of trial counsel’s objection.

Even if this Court determines trial counsel failed to preserve the issue for review, a reviewing court would consider the issue in the interest of judicial economy. The Court of Appeals’ recent decision in State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525(Ct. App. 2012) provides ample support for this position. Bonner was seventeen-years old at the time of the crimes for which he was convicted. During the sentencing proceedings, trial counsel asked the court to consider Bonner’s age and youth, but mistakenly told the judge that Bonner was nineteen-years old, when he was actually eighteen at the time of sentencing. Id. at 563, 735 S.E.2d at 526. The judge then sentenced Bonner to LWOP for burglary in the first degree, a non-homicide offense. Trial counsel did not object or raise any issue as to the sentence in a post-trial motion. Id. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals addressed the issue in the interest of judicial economy. The state conceded that the trial court erred in sentencing Bonner to life without parole in light of Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011 (2010), but argued the appropriate avenue to address the claim was in post-conviction relief proceedings. The Court found Bonner’s case presented an exceptional circumstance requiring appellate review in the interest of judicial economy coupled with the concession of

error in the state's brief. Id. at 565-567, 735 S.E.2d at 527-528. Therefore, if this Court determines the error in Appellant's case is not preserved for review, this Court should review the matter in the interest of judicial economy as an exceptional circumstance.

Unconstitutional sentence

“[C]hildren are constitutionally different from adults for purpose of sentencing.” Miller v. Alabama, ___ U.S. ___, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2464 (2012). On June 25, 2012, the United States Supreme Court held mandatory sentences of life without parole (LWOP) imposed upon juveniles violate the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Id. Beginning in 2005 with its decision in Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the Supreme Court began a steady evolution of juvenile justice jurisprudence applicable to the states and federal government. In Roper, the Court held death sentences for juveniles were cruel and unusual punishment. Four years later, the Court held that a LWOP sentence imposed upon a juvenile for a non-homicide offense violated the Eighth Amendment's ban on cruel and unusual punishment. Graham, supra. Not surprisingly, when presented with the question of whether mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles in homicide cases violated the Eighth Amendment, the Supreme Court held they did. Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2464.

The Miller Court reserved ruling on whether juveniles could ever be sentenced to LWOP. Id. at 2469. Nevertheless, this Court should hold the Eighth Amendment precludes life imprisonment for juveniles. Although the Miller Court was not required, and did not, address the issue, the same constitutional reasoning prohibiting mandatory LWOP sentences applies equally in non-mandatory sentencing schemes. The Court's decision was not based upon the mandatory nature of the penalty, but on the character of

children in general. The Miller Court repeatedly focused on the notion that the character traits of children are “more transitory and less fixed.” Id. at 2464. Children by definition lack maturity and responsibility; thus, they are more likely to act with “recklessness, impulsivity, and needless risk-taking.” Id. The Court eloquently explained that due to the innate characteristics of children at large, there is a “great difficulty ... of distinguishing at this early age between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” In fact, the Court stated “incorrigibility is inconsistent with youth.” Id. at 2469. The Court emphasized the potential for reform present in all juveniles. The Court emphasized the mitigating qualities of youth and noted “[i]t is a time of immaturity, irresponsibility, ‘impetuosity[,] and recklessness.’” Id. at 2467(quoting Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 115 (1982)). Appellant respectfully requests this Court hold LWOP sentences for juveniles are cruel and unusual punishment prohibited by the Eighth Amendment.

Unconstitutional sentencing procedure

Although the Miller Court did not hold LWOP to be an unconstitutional sentence in non-mandatory sentencing schemes, the Court held Eighth Amendment jurisprudence governing imposition of death sentences applied equally to cases involving juveniles facing the possibility of LWOP. Id. at 2470. The Court’s decision created a presumption against LWOP sentences for juveniles, and most importantly, the Court imported the principles of capital sentencing into cases where juveniles face the possibility of LWOP. Specifically, the court explained that “death is different” and “children are different too.” Id. at 2470.

“The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment ‘guarantees individuals the right not to be subjected to excessive sanctions.’” Id. at 2463 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 560). The Miller Court emphasized that “proportionality is central to the Eighth Amendment.” Id. (quoting Graham, 130 S.Ct. at 2021). Focusing on the concept of individualized sentencing, the Court recognized “that children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Children “have diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform,” and therefore, “they are less deserving of the most severe punishments.” Id. at 2464 (quoting Graham, 130 S.Ct. at 2026). “[T]he distinctive attributes of youth diminish penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, even when they commit terrible crimes.” Id. at 2465. As a result, “[a]n offender’s age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment.” Graham, 130 S.Ct. at 2031. In light of the relevance to the ban on cruel and unusual punishment, “imposition of a State’s most severe penalties on juvenile offenders cannot proceed as though they were not children.” Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2466.

Mandatory sentencing prevents the sentencer from considering the juvenile offender’s “chronological age and its hallmark features, among them, immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences,” the offender’s family and home environment, the extent of the offender’s conduct in the offense and the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him. The Court required sentencers “to take into account how children are different and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 2469. Thus, it is clear that sentencing authorities must consider a juvenile offender’s age and consideration of such must be a mitigating factor.

Additionally, the Court made clear that the type of individualized sentencing that occurs in capital cases is constitutionally required in sentencing proceedings involving juveniles facing LWOP as a possible sentence. Id. at 2468. Therefore, Appellant urges this Court to remand his case for a sentencing proceeding in compliance with the Eighth Amendment.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court declare sentences of LWOP for juveniles unconstitutional and vacate his sentence of LWOP for the murder conviction and remand his case for re-sentencing. In the alternative, Appellant respectfully requests this Court vacate his sentence of LWOP for murder and remand for re-sentencing in compliance with Miller, supra.