RECEIVED
OCT 02 2013
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Florence County
William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
2011-GS-21-1197

RECEIVED
OCT - 4 2013

Appellate Case No. 2012-211593

THE STATE,

Respondent, **S.C. Supreme Court**

v.

TAVARIO DORMELL BRUNSON,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit
Box Q, City-County Complex
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ARGUMENT

- I. Appellant is not entitled to vacation of his sentence of life imprisonment without parole for murder and new sentencing hearing where:**
- (1) No objection to the life sentence was made to the trial judge under any factor and no mitigating evidence was excluded by the Court for a lesser sentence of thirty years;**
 - (2) Miller v. Alabama merely held the Eighth Amendment prohibits *mandatory* life without parole (LWOP) sentences for juveniles convicted of homicide, but did not prohibit or otherwise create a presumption against non-mandatory LWOP sentences which was available to Brunson and the sentencing court's consideration; and**
 - (3) Brunson was provided an individualized sentencing proceeding with the opportunity to present mitigating evidence in regard to his age and the circumstances of the crime and family background.**

On June 25, 2012, while Tavario Brunson's appeal from his murder and additional convictions was pending, the United States Supreme Court announced its decision in Miller v. Alabama, _ U.S. _, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2469, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012), that the Eighth Amendment forbids sentencing a juvenile defendant to life without parole when there has been no consideration of the particular circumstances of the crime or the offender's age and development. "By making youth (and all that accompanies it) irrelevant to imposition of that harshest prison sentence, such a scheme poses too great a risk of disproportionate punishment." Id. Miller does not hold that a pre-18 offender never can receive this sentence for murder. It holds only that life without parole may not be imposed unless the sentencer is given an opportunity to consider the individual facts and circumstances that might make such a sentence unjust or disproportionate. Since South Carolina authorizes a sentence of thirty years to life for murder in this case and consideration by the sentencer of youth and other factors, Miller provides no basis for either vacation of his life sentence or a new sentencing proceeding. However, the issues he seeks to

present to the Court this day were never preserved in the trial court. For these reasons, the appeal should be denied.

1. The Federal Constitutional Claim Is Not Preserved.

Respondent initially submits that the issue of whether Tavarío Brunson was improperly sentenced to life imprisonment on his conviction for murder is not properly before this Court. Simply put, no objection was made after the sentence of life imprisonment for murder was given. ROA 144. Further, as noted below, comments made about the case then pending in the U.S. Supreme Court were inadequate to state any objection because he never claimed that a life sentence could not be given in his case. ROA 142-43. As stated in the Respondent's previous opposition to the "Motion to Stay Pending the Court's decision in Aiken, et al. v. Byars" before the Court of Appeals, no objection was made in the record to the Appellant's life sentence. Although the Appellant correctly noted the existence of a case pending in the U.S. Supreme Court, counsel for the defense acknowledged that he did not know anything about it. ROA p. 142, l. 20- p. 143, l. 6. This retrospective attempt to preserve an issue in the direct appeal is wholly insufficient to preserve this claim.

In his brief before this Court, Brunson asserts that preservation was adequate in a series of conflicting theories. First, he admits under State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-694 (2003) and Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001), that South Carolina "requires" that an issue be raised and ruled upon by the trial judge in order to be preserved for appellate review. *Initial Brief of Appellant*, p. 9. He follows it with an assertion that the objecting party is not required "to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground," citing Dunbar, 356

S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694. He then claims that merely informing the trial court of the existence of case pending on appeal in the United States Supreme Court challenging the application of a life sentence to individuals less than 18 years old was “[c]learly, this was an objection to the imposition of a life sentence” because “the only purpose trial counsel would have had in informing the trial court of the pending case was to object.” *Initial Brief of Appellant*, p. 10.

What Defense Counsel Actually Said

However, a review of defense counsel’s actual remarks - not the characterization of them - makes it less questionable. Particularly, defense counsel Meetze stated:

Counsel Meetze:

. . . as of today Mr. Brunson has been incarcerated for 366 days. The Court has obviously sat through that trial and is familiar with the case and the facts and all of that and is familiar with the punishments for these charges. Murder by itself carries a minimum of thirty years and up to a life sentence. . . .So either way you slice that, it’s a long time.

It’s my understanding ***and I don’t know anything specifically about it***, but it is my understanding that there is currently a case pending in the Supreme Court along the lines that Mr. Clements referenced as it pertains to the 17-year-old and the death penalty.³ I think there’s a case currently on appeal in the U.S. Supreme Court with regards to a 17-year-old as it pertains to a life sentence as well as the same issues involved, whether that would be cruel and unusual punishment. Nothing has been decided in that

³Solicitor Clements in his sentencing remarks stated:

. . .we ask . . .that you give Tavario Brunson the maximum sentence allowed by law. If he was not 17 years old at the time of this offense, my office would have sought the death penalty, but since that is not allowable by the United States Supreme Court, we did not.

I ask, Your Honor, that you give him life, you give him the maximum on the other charges and, Your Honor, I ask that you consider making them consecutive. If life ever gets changed by our legislature so that it’s no longer a natural life, I would ask that you consider a consecutive sentence.

ROA p. 141, l. 20- p. 142, l. 5.

regard so there's no law in that regard right now, but at - - at some point in time there may well be. . .”

ROA p. 142, l. 13- p. 143, l. 6. Counsel Meetze continued, noting the sentencing function of judges is difficult, that based upon the Appellant's family background this is not something that would have been expected and “we would just ask the Court to consider some kind of mercy on his behalf, understanding your job is indeed a difficult one.” ROA p. 143, l. 7-18. At that point, Judge Seals sentenced the Appellant to life for murder. ROA p. 143, l. 22-25. No objection was made after the sentence of life imprisonment without parole for murder. ROA 144.

Why the Constitutional Claim Is Not Preserved.

The Appellant never objected to the life sentence. The Appellant never claimed that a life sentence was forbidden under the federal constitution to him for his convicted crime of murder, particularly under the Eighth Amendment cruel and unusual punishment clause. Simply put, Brunson never asked the trial court to address the federal constitutional claim he is presenting today.

It is well settled that issues not raised and ruled on in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003); State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 583, 611 S.E.2d 273, 281 (Ct.App.2005). Thus, “a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review.” State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999). In State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525 (2012), the Court of Appeal declared that an exception to the general rule of issue preservation exists authorizing the appellate court to consider an unpreserved issue in the interest of judicial economy under appropriate circumstances, citing State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 203, 682 S.E.2d 275, 282 (Ct.App.2009) (vacating a kidnapping sentence in the interest of

judicial economy, even though the issue was not preserved for review); see also Jeter v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 369 S.C. 433, 441 n. 6, 633 S.E.2d 143, 147 n. 6 (2006) (holding the appellate court would address an issue in the interest of judicial economy despite any preservation problems).

However, unlike Bonner, Vick, and Johnston, the Respondent do not concede error in sentencing Appellant, who was seventeen at the time of the crime and sentencing, to a sentence of life without parole. As set forth, he was not facing or sentenced to a mandatory sentence of life without parole. Unlike Bonner who received a life without parole sentence for a non-homicide which was forbidden by Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), which the State had conceded was improper, Miller v. Florida, does not expressly forbid a life without parole sentence in a murder case committed by a 17 year old. Unlike Johnston, who the court found that the sentence that the State had conceded was erroneous and excessive and that the defendant could have remain in custody beyond the term of the correct sentence, nether circumstance exist in Brunson's case. Further, reliance upon Vick is misplaced here also because there the State had conceded that Vick's kidnapping sentence was improper. Thus, the judicial economy seen in each of those cases is not present here. Here, prior to the filing of the Appellant's brief, the State had already taken a position on preservation and lack of merit in n its opposition to the stay request. Therefore, the "extraordinary circumstances" present in Johnston, Vick and Bonner are not present here.

Clearly, the Appellant was asking for a sentence in plea of mitigation for mercy - a sentence of less than life without parole, but was not claiming that such a sentence was forbidden or that a different sentencing proceeding was required. As the Supreme Court has stated, "a

challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review.” State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999); State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 403 S.E.2d 631 (1991); State v. Shumate, 276 S.C. 46, 275 S.E.2d 288 (1981); State v. Winestock, 271 S.C. 473, 248 S.E.2d 307 (1978).

2. ***Miller v. Florida Does Not Preclude a Life Without Parole Sentence Upon Appellant As A Matter of Law.***

In Miller v. Alabama, two separate juvenile defendants were found guilty of murder—one of murder in the course of arson and the other of capital murder. Id. at 2461. Both sentencing schemes provided a mandatory sentence of either death or life without parole when convicted of either of those offenses. Because the Supreme Court had previously invalidated the death penalty for juvenile offenders, the trial court had only one possible option in sentencing upon conviction - life without parole. Id.; see Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 575, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005) (holding the death penalty cannot be imposed upon juvenile offenders). A sentence of life without parole was the required, mandatory sentence for a juvenile offender convicted under the statute and was automatically imposed upon conviction, with no exercise of discretion as to whether such a sentence was appropriate. The Miller Court held such a sentencing scheme providing for a required, mandatory sentence of life without parole for juvenile offenders violated the Constitution, and precluded a sentencer from taking into account an offender's age, life circumstances, and the circumstances of the homicide offense. Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2464, 2467–68. However, the Court did not hold that discretionary life without parole sentences violate the Eighth Amendment. See id. at 2469 (“[A] sentencer needed to examine all these circumstances before concluding that life without any possibility of parole was the appropriate penalty.”). Instead, in regards to life-without-parole sentences for juvenile offenders, the Miller

Court stated, “[a]lthough we do not foreclose a sentencer’s ability to make that judgment in homicide cases, we require it to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” *Id.* The Court emphasized its decision “does not categorically bar a penalty for a class of offenders or type of crime.... Instead, it mandates only that a sentencer follow a certain process - *considering an offender’s youth and attendant characteristics* - before imposing a particular penalty.” *Id.* at p. 2471 (italics added).

In sum, Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011 (2010) prevented the imposition of life without parole for juvenile offenders convicted of non-homicide offenses.⁴ Miller prevented the *mandatory* imposition of life without parole for juvenile offenders, but specifically allowed a discretionary sentence of life without parole when the circumstances justify it. Therefore, nothing prevents such a discretionary sentence when, as here, Appellant has been

⁴ In Graham, the juvenile defendant pled guilty to armed burglary and attempted armed robbery, for which he was placed on deferred adjudication probation pursuant to a plea bargain. *Id.* at 2018. When he violated his probation, the trial court found him guilty of the offenses and sentenced him to life without parole for the armed burglary and fifteen years’ imprisonment for the attempted armed robbery, both non-homicide offenses. *Id.* at 2020. The Court held the Eighth Amendment forbids a State from imposing a sentence of life without parole on a juvenile offender who does not commit homicide. *Id.* at 2030. However, in clarifying its ruling, the Court noted:

Juvenile offenders who committed both homicide and nonhomicide crimes present a different situation for a sentencing judge than juvenile offenders who committed no homicide. It is difficult to say that a defendant who receives a life sentence on a nonhomicide offense but who was at the same time convicted of homicide is not in some sense being punished in part for the homicide when the judge makes the sentencing determination. The instant case concerns only those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense.

Id. at 2023.

found guilty of both a homicide offense of murder and non-homicide offenses in a particularly heinous crime.

Unlike the sentences in Miller, Appellant Brunson's sentence of life without parole was not the mandatory sentence for his murder conviction. He was sentenced pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-3-20 (A) which provided: " a person who is convicted of or pleads guilty to murder must be punished by death, or by a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment for thirty years to life. . ." This sentencing statute did not require a mandatory sentence of life without possibility of parole (nor even create a presumption of LWOP), but vested the sentencing courts with the discretion to sentence Brunson to a term of thirty years to life. As such, this did not violate the proscription against cruel and unusual punishment set forth in Miller. Respondents submit Miller also fails to support wholesale resentencing.

In an attempt to justify their request, Appellant seeks to distort the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Miller by selectively focusing on particular words and phrases out of context. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, Miller does not create a presumption against sentences of life without parole for juveniles. Rather, in specifically rejecting Miller's alternative argument "that the Eighth Amendment requires a categorical bar on life without parole for juveniles," the Supreme Court simply noted that "appropriate occasions for sentencing juveniles to this harshest possible penalty will be uncommon," Miller at 567, 132 S.Ct. at 2469 (emphasis added). The Court reiterated the difficulty, recognized in Roper and Graham, of "distinguishing at this early age between 'the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption,'" and held: "Although we do not foreclose a sentencer's ability to make that judgment in a homicide cases, we require it to

take into account how children are different and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Id.* at ___, 132 S.Ct. at 2469. The Court went on to explain that: "Our holding requires factfinders . . . to take into account the differences among defendants and crimes. By contrast, the sentencing schemes that the dissents find permissible altogether preclude considering these factors." *Id.* at ___ n.8, 132 S.Ct. at 2469 n.8 (emphasis added). It is precisely this preclusion the Court found unconstitutional, not that all juvenile life without parole sentences are unconstitutional, as posited by Miller himself. This distinction and the Court's conscious decision to decline expanding the Eighth Amendment's reach are important. At best they suggest an examination of sentencing proceedings on a case-by-case basis where each Petitioner can attempt to show that he or she did not receive the benefit of the individual consideration described in Miller. But, as addressed in detail above, even this suggestion is in doubt since Miller is procedural and not substantive in nature and does not constitute a watershed ruling.

Likewise in Miller, the Supreme Court did not explicitly or implicitly import Eighth Amendment capital sentencing principles into cases where juveniles face the possibility of a sentence of life without parole. Instead, in discussing how "mandatory penalties, by their nature, preclude a sentencer from taking account of an offender's age and the wealth of characteristics attendant to it," and noting that "[i]n meting out the death penalty, the elision of all these differences would be strictly forbidden," the Miller Court finds that "a similar rule should apply when a juvenile confronts a sentence of life (and death) in prison." Miller at 567, 132 S.Ct. 2467-68 (emphasis added). Thus the "similar rule" is not a mandate to provide a sentencing proceeding identical to the sentencing proceeding conducted in capital cases, but is a "similar

rule" that prohibits a mandatory death sentence where the sentencer's ability to consider individualized characteristics has been eliminated or precluded. Miller holds that the exclusion of an individual defendant's age and circumstances from the sentencing judge's consideration would violate the Eighth Amendment when imposing a sentence of life without parole.

Here, by comparison, Appellant's age and circumstances was necessarily included in the discretionary decision to impose a sentence of life without parole rather than the mandatory minimum thirty year sentence. ROA 143-44. Indeed, as described by the South Carolina Supreme Court over forty-five years ago:

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